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Wednesday, March 30, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Perhaps before we get started this morning we will deal with the matters as we left them at the end of the day yesterday, and that was the discussion on the response -- requested response to a question posed by you, Mr. Warren.  I am pleased to see you are here this morning.  Perhaps we will need your assistance on this.


We did say we would provide direction, if we felt it was necessary, once having taken a look at the discussion, and we have looked at the transcript and gone back through it.  And we also mentioned yesterday that we wanted to keep this focussed on this application and within the parameters of the issues list.


But in looking back through the discussion, Mr. Warren -- and maybe I think I will take you to the transcript, if you have it available from yesterday.  On page 188 of the transcript, this starts at line 12 with Mr. Warren's question to Mr. Sardana, and I will read it:

"Now, can you tell me if Toronto Hydro has a position on whether or not the Board has the jurisdiction to require you to apply under an IRM regime?  Do you have a position on that?"


The exchange after that went to whether or not this was a legal question and whether or not the Panel was in a position -- you took the position, Mr. Rodger, that the Panel wasn't in a position to answer that legal question.


After some back and forth and discussion, I will take you to line 25 of page 189, and, Mr. Rodger, you then suggested that:

"Well, I think Toronto Hydro's position is that the Board has an obligation to hear an application that Toronto Hydro would bring forward.  If Mr. Warren is saying out of this decision or out of a further direction or articulation from the Board that an IRM is the only way that you would hear an application, that is an interesting question, and I would want to think about that.  But in terms of how we would move forward, as I say, we believe your first fundamental obligation..."


I believe that is meaning "your", being the Board:

"...your first fundamental obligation is to hear and adjudicate an application that we bring forward.  And to this point the utility has a discretion to bring an application forward that it sees fit."


The terms of what is at play in this application, the Panel would be satisfied that the question has been answered if the Panel adopted your submissions as theirs, from the company, Mr. Rodger.


If not, then we will determine where we go from there.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  As I said yesterday, I haven't had an opportunity to really consider this with my client or get instructions, so I would like the opportunity to respond formally to the Board on this question.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be satisfactory.  But to Mr. Shepherd's point yesterday, what we don't want to have happen is the missed opportunity for others to respond to that.  So however it comes to fruition here, either the position -- either the company doesn't have a position, or it does and it is this one or one slightly different.  We would like that on the record, or at least an argument-in-chief, if you determine that it is an argument issue, and we will take it from there.


MR. RODGER:  I think our preference, sir, would be to present it in argument-in-chief.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And I will ask Mr. Warren to...


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, having looked at the transcript last night and again this morning, it occurs to me that the issue - and it is my fault - perhaps wasn't or was not precisely framed yesterday.


Mr. Rodger's submission yesterday, as I understand it, was that the Board has an obligation to hear whatever application is presented to it.  I think the issue is slightly more complicated than that.


The issue is:  Regardless of the form in which the application is presented to the Board, does the Board have the jurisdiction to say that arising out of this application we are going to put you in an IRM regime?  Does the Board have the jurisdiction to do that?


Now, my view is that there is a compelling argument that the Board does have the discretion under the act to do that.


The problem with the way -- perhaps "problem" is the wrong term.  The way Mr. Rodger has framed the issue is that it -- in effect, implicit in that, is that you are required -- that you are limited in your discretion to dealing with whatever application in whatever form is put to you.


And I think the issue is, rather, that is one component of it, but the other component of it is:  Regardless of the way the application is presented to you, does the Board have the discretion to say, The appropriate thing for the next three years is that you be under an IRM regime with the following components.


So I would invite the Panel, or through you to Mr. Rodger, to address the whole of the issue in his argument or in whatever submission he is going to make to you, which is:  Regardless of the way the application is presented, does the Board have the discretion to say, I hear your application, this is the IRM, this is the way we're going to structure rates for the next three years?


Thank you, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  I think one of the reasons why we're struggling with this, Mr. Chairman, is that the way this is unfolded with Mr. Warren's question, it is a very different issue than what was put before the Board, as the utility understood it, and it might be useful if I could just refer you -- I didn't bring copies, I'm sorry.  But if you go back to Procedural Order No. 2, which is dated November 11th, 2010?


And by this time, the Board had submissions from parties on the draft issues list.  And if you go to page 3 of Procedural Order No. 2, and you will see -- I won't read it all, but you will see the bottom of page 3 Toronto Hydro, its submission is that issue 1.5 wasn't relevant to these proceedings and should be removed, and we gave a number of reasons why we thought why.


And that goes over to the top of page 4.  Then the Board stated that, "No other parties commented on this issue."  And then the Board gives its finding, and I will read that.


The Board says:

"The Board finds that Issue 1.5 is relevant to the present proceeding and will be on the Approved Final Issues List.  The Board finds that it is appropriate to incorporate this issue to allow parties to explore the full range of approaches available to deal with the longer term issues raised by Toronto Hydro's application."


So that was the context of our understanding of this issue.  And, you know, reading in between the lines of Mr. -- some of Mr. Warren's questions yesterday, I can see where he's going is, at the end of the day, saying, Look, Toronto Hydro hasn't put evidence before the Board why IRM is or is not appropriate.


But that wasn't the point.  The point wasn't to refile our -- or to file our 2012 application in this proceeding and allow you to consider it.


The idea was to present this issue to allow a discussion to happen, given Toronto Hydro's situation where we have these ever increasing capital needs over the next years and a model that can't handle that.


So what we're talking about now is quite a departure with respect to the intent and nature of what we're here to talk about with respect to this issue.


We are still prepared to deal with it in-chief, but it is, in part, why we are a little surprised how it has unfolded, because it is very different from what -- the Board's rationale of why it included this issue in the first place.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I hate to say this, but I have some sympathy for Mr. Rodger's position.


We are concerned with whether this Board Panel can make any determination in this proceeding that is of a binding nature.


If the whole thing had gone to hearing, all of the issues associated with the capital plan and OM&A, et cetera, had gone to hearing, we think it would have been useful to then look at the context, as well, what the company planned to do over subsequent years, whether it made sense, and so the Board can make an assessment, Well, should we expand the capital plan a little bit this year because we think they will be on IRM next year, or what should we do?


That has been all settled, so the Board doesn't have that context anymore to worry about.


What we are concerned with is that if we have a whole debate about the jurisdiction question, all this Board Panel can do is provide its opinion.  It is probably not even appealable.  You probably can't even take it to Divisional Court, because it is not operative.  It is not doing anything in this rate case.  It is just an opinion.


And so -- and the Board has already expressed its opinion.  It wrote a letter on March 1st.  So we know what the Board's opinion is generally.  It does have jurisdiction.


So I guess we are concerned that we spent a lot of time this time around on the legal question, and then we still have to fight it again in August when Toronto Hydro files a cost-of-service application where it will be an operative issue.


And so I guess our feeling is, we don't want to hear this argument first in reply.  That is what we said yesterday.  But frankly, we would rather avoid it at all.  We would rather leave it until it matters.


Those are our submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Warren --


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Quesnelle, Mr. Chair, if I may add from the company on this.  We actually -- I hate to say this too, but I have to agree with Mr. Shepherd on this issue.  The company's position here is that, respectfully, the Board is not in a position to provide a binding decision that would bind a future Board.  And I think we would rather not spend too much time on this issue right now and deal with it in August, because, as Mr. Rodger's alluded to, we believe that the Board -- and it's the company's position that the Board has an obligation to consider an application that would be filed by Toronto Hydro in August.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Ms. Taylor, you have a question?


MS. TAYLOR:  So, sorry, if I could just come back to the answer that was just provided then.  So earlier the panel asked Mr. Rodger whether the company agreed with the statement made by Mr. Rodger yesterday at the bottom of page 189, which was the company's position.  He said:

"I think Toronto Hydro's position is that the Board would have an obligation to hear an application that Toronto Hydro would bring forward."


And we asked Mr. Rodger whether that accurately reflects the company's position, to which he said he has not discussed it with you.


So based on the answer that you just provided, are you telling this Panel that you in fact agree with the position that Mr. Rodger delineated yesterday afternoon and is found at lines 25 to 28 on page 189?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  I wonder if we could have a moment to -- I would like to be able to discuss this with my client.  I don't think it is fair, for the record, that we be put in a position like this where we're giving one-off answers.  I would like to be able to consider it.


As Mr. Warren, you know, kind of alluded to yesterday, this question may very well end up in the courts, and I would like to be in the position to discuss it with my client first.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We will take -- we will carry on with our regular business that we intended this morning with the cross of this panel, and perhaps you could speak to it again after a break we will take later on this morning.


MR. RODGER:  That would be help.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  I only came this morning because I thought this issue might be live.  I wonder if I might be excused.  I will be go to the OPA session next door, and when it is appropriate I will come back, if you want further comments from me.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be appreciated if you could return, Mr. Warren, and it would be after our break this morning, so, you know...


MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


We left off yesterday.  The panel is, I take it, still available, Mr. Rodger, and we will just carry on where we left off yesterday for the...


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Just one housekeeping matter, Mr. Chairman --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, yes.


MR. RODGER:  -- and that is, we have responses to three undertakings, Undertaking JH1.3, JH1.4, and JH1.5, and copies have been provided to your staff, and we have copies for my friends.


[Ms. Sebalj passes out undertaking responses]


MR. RODGER:  And with that, the panel is ready to proceed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Anything else, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  No.  The panel is ready to proceed, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Aiken, I don't know if you've self-nominated, or...


MR. AIKEN:  It wasn't self-nominated, but I was nominated.

TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM - PANEL 3


J.S. Couillard, Previously Sworn


Pankaj Sardana, Previously Sworn


Colin McLorg, Previously Sworn


Darryl Seal, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Randy Aiken.  I am here this morning on behalf of BOMA.  I might like to add that it is almost like Homecoming Week at the University of Waterloo, given that three of the four panel members went to university with me.


Most of my questions this morning are going to be on cost allocation, so I am assuming they're for you, Mr. Seal.


If we could start at Exhibit L1, tab 1, schedule 1, and on the first page of that schedule we have table 1 that shows the 2010 Board-approved and 2011 revenue-to-cost ratios.  And Mr. Buonaguro talked about this a little bit yesterday.


The 2011 column is your proposal; is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And the starting point under the Toronto methodology is detailed in the response to Board Staff 92, I believe it is.  That is Exhibit R1, tab 1, schedule 92.  That was a correction to your evidence that included all of the rate classes.


MR. SEAL:  That is correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the revenue-to-cost ratio is shown on that response, and as an example, 89.07 for residential, that is the starting point based on the Toronto methodology.  Have I got that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That is the revenue-cost ratio, or those are all the revenue-cost ratios that kick out of the cost-allocation model using our methodology -- well, it is the Board's model with our adjustments.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And then in comparison to that we have what's been called the VECC or the Harper methodology, and the results of that are shown in Exhibit R1, tab 11, schedule 38, Appendix "B", that I believe Mr. Crocker took you to yesterday.


MR. SEAL:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And this is the corrected version from January 13th.  And in that case, is the only difference between these two sets of tables the treatment of the transformer ownership allowance?


MR. SEAL:  That is the difference, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Buonaguro went through this in some detail, so I am just going to go at it in a more general format.  But basically there are two differences.  The first difference is in the direct allocation of the transformer ownership allowance costs, that in the VECC methodology the 11.5 million has been removed from that line, and specifically it's been removed from three rate classes, the GS greater than 50, the intermediate, and the large-use classes; is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And I think Mr. Buonaguro noted that in the large-use category there's a reduction of about 3.1 million in those direct allocated costs.  That would be from the roughly 5.8 million down to 2.7 million.


MR. SEAL:  I will take that number subject to check, but that's my belief.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that is the first change.  The second change is on the revenues.  There is a reduction in the revenues shown in the VECC approach by the same 11.5 million, that is related to this issue, and I was a little confused yesterday with the discussion between you and Mr. Buonaguro, because it sounded like that 11.5 million came out of those three, the same three rate classes.  But that is not actually the case, is it?


MR. SEAL:  The way the revenue side works within the model, the 2011 revenues -- distribution revenue portion is developed using the starting point of 2010 rates applied to 2010 billing units, and then grossed up to get the revenue requirement that we require.


So from that perspective, we don't directly attribute the transformer allowance to the classes in that particular case, so that is why you won't see the exact customer class revenues be adjusted by the same amount.  That's the methodology that is within the model.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That was my understanding.


So, again, if we look at the large use rate class, it looks like the difference between your methodology and the VECC methodology is about half-a-million dollars in revenue, distribution revenue, in the large use class, going from 25.9 million using your approach to 25.4 million using the VECC approach.


Again, subject to check, do you accept those numbers?


MR. SEAL:  Yes.  I accept those, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So doesn't that mean, because we have this mismatch within the large use category and other categories, that it is biassing the revenue-to-cost ratio downwards?  You've only got half a million in revenue and you've got 3.1 million in allocated costs, so that is going to pull the revenue-to-cost ratio down?


MR. SEAL:  I think I can accept that, Mr. Aiken, based on the methodology that we have here, but I will state, again, as I stated yesterday to Mr. Buonaguro, my belief is that, from a rate-setting standpoint, the starting point doesn't matter.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. SEAL:  I need to recover the costs that are attributed to that particular category, in those particular classes.


MR. AIKEN:  We will get to that in a minute or so.


Just one other comparison.  If you look at the residential revenues, under your methodology it is 241.9 million.  Under the VECC methodology it is 237.2.  So there appears to be about a $4.7 million reduction in the residential distribution revenues under the VECC methodology.


And so my question is this.  If there are no costs, no transformer ownership allowance costs, allocated to the residential, does it make sense for that 4.7 million to show up as residential revenue, other than the fact that that's how the model is set up to be used?


MR. SEAL:  No.  I think I would agree it probably doesn't make sense.  I will turn you to the revenue-cost ratios, and the difference -- the 89 that we had filed versus the 87.4 under the VECC methodology, there is a difference.  I wouldn't say it is a huge difference.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And this, I guess, is also reflected in the response to undertaking JH1.3 that we received this morning.  This was Mr. Buonaguro's undertaking of what happens to the revenue-to-cost ratios if the transformer ownership allowance was 90 cents.


And in that case, you see the residential revenue-to-cost ratio actually increases for a cost that they don't attract and don't pay for?


MR. SEAL:  Agreed, on the starting point level.


MR. AIKEN:  And based on your understanding of the VECC methodology, would you agree that changing the level of the transformer ownership allowance does not impact on the revenue-to-cost ratios, since both of those costs and revenues have been removed?


MR. SEAL:  I'm sorry, can you restate that question, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Under the VECC methodology, and your understanding of it, that removes the cost and the revenue associated with the transformer ownership allowance, there is no impact on the revenue-to-cost ratios for any rate classes of increasing the allowance from 62 cents to 90 cents, for example?


MR. SEAL:  Well, I am not sure I can agree to that, because what I understand the VECC methodology is saying is, Let's calculate these revenue-cost ratios without the transformer allowance, period.  Take the transformer allowance out of both the top and the bottom to calculate your revenue-cost ratios.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. SEAL:  So on that basis, what I changed for the assumption on transformer allowance wouldn't matter.


MR. AIKEN:  And that was my question.  It would not change the revenue-to-cost ratios under the VECC approach?


MR. SEAL:  Well, there would be no -- there would be no transformer allowance cost.  So, yes, I suppose it wouldn't change anything, because there is no costs involved in their revenue-cost ratio for transformer allowance, cost or revenues.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Mr. Crocker yesterday took you to -- I won't give you the EB number, but the report of the Board on the cost allocation.  He specifically took you to section 2.1 and 2.34.


And if you could go to 2.34, this is on page 7, and there is just one sentence in there I want to read and ask you a question on.  And that is, it says here:

"The distributor should endeavour to move their revenue-to-cost ratios closer to one if this is supported by improved cost allocations."


So my specific question is:  What has Toronto Hydro done to improve their cost allocations?


MR. SEAL:  I wouldn't say there is anything in particular that we've done to improve our cost allocations from previous uses of the cost allocation model in previous cases.


We did point out, in our very first filing with the cost allocation model, some problems that we thought with the model, and corrected specifically for the transformer allowance.  So we made that correction then.  That was back in our 2008 case.


So we think we improved the model there.  We have continually updated the input data that goes into the cost allocation model, used our latest information on our load profiles for our interval customer classes.  So I don't know if you would characterize that as an improvement to the model.  I think I would characterize it like that.


But regardless of that, I've moved the revenue-cost ratios closer to unity for all classes on what I feel is a fair basis.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, yesterday, in response to Mr. Crocker, you had indicated that you didn't think the starting point mattered, because whether the Board accepted your starting point or the VECC starting point, your proposal would be to move to the same revenue-to-cost ratios as in your evidence.  Is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  What I am trying to distinguish within our -- within the model is the need to recover the costs from the classes.


And as I indicated, on the cost side, we have used the model to allocate all of the various costs that are allocated within the model, and we have applied the transformer allowance cost, the cost side, only to those classes that are getting the transformer allowance.


So that's my basis for costs that have been allocated for the classes.


I then have decided what revenue I need to collect from those classes, and I am going to design my rates on that basis.  So I decided, in our particular case, that I want to recover 92 percent of the revenue required from the residential class and design my rates to recover that.


So the costs are fixed, if you will, based on the cost allocation model, and I design my rates to recover the 92 percent revenue.


So in my mind, whether I start from 89.07 or 89-point -- whatever the other number was, is irrelevant for the setting of rates.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And that was going to be my next question.  Given the starting -- your starting point of 89.1 and the VECC starting point for 87.4 for residentials, in particular, there would be no impact -- no change in the rate impact for residential customers, because you are moving up to 92 percent of a cost.  You are not moving it from one number to another?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. SEAL:  There would be no change in the year-over-year rate impact.  Exactly.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the numbers shown in appendix C of Exhibit KH1.1 that shows the rate impacts of the settlement agreement with the cost-of-capital parameters, those numbers would not change based on the starting point.


MR. SEAL:  Correct.  They would not change.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I do have one question, or maybe two, on IFRS.  And this is on Exhibit KH1.7, that shows the 6.1 million.  Will there be any additional IFRS costs incurred in 2011?


MR. COUILLARD:  Not for the variance account.


MR. AIKEN:  Are there IFRS costs included in the OM&A --


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  The ongoing costs now of being an IFRS company are included in our OM&A now.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, panel, Board Members.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no light, but it appears to be working.


So let me just ask -- my name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I know you all well.


I want to ask just one question on the revenue-to-cost ratios, the cost allocation, because I was going to ask you to undertake to provide KH1.8 using the Harper methodology instead of your methodology.  You're telling me that the results will be identical?


MR. SEAL:  KH1.8?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is your bill-impact schedule.


MR. SEAL:  That's right.  They would not change.  They would not change.  The rates are based on the costs I needed to recover.  And if I am assuming 92 percent costs for the residential sector, it wouldn't change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But 92 percent of what?


MR. SEAL:  92 percent of the costs that are being allocated, none of which are transformer allowance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you allocate the costs differently based on the Seal methodology versus the Harper methodology.


MR. SEAL:  Actually, it is not the cost.  It is the revenue side of the cost-revenue -- revenue-cost model that gets allocated differently under the two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's -- I listened to your discussion with Mr. Aiken.  The part I didn't understand is, to move from 87-point-whatever to 92 is a bigger move, in terms of dollars, than to move from 89 to 92; right?


MR. SEAL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you put more -- if you move more dollars into the residential class, why aren't the rates going up more?


MR. SEAL:  I think what the issue is, again, from a cost perspective I am not moving more or less dollars into the residential class.  If you look under both methodologies, you will see under the cost component the costs are the same for the residential sector.  It is the -- our computed revenue side that is different, because of the way we compute the revenues for 2011.


So essentially what I am saying is the costs are the costs.  You can quibble with the way I've calculated the revenue on the revenue line and, therefore, disagree with my starting-point revenue-cost ratio.  But at the end of the day, if you accepted, say, 90 percent or 89 percent for the revenue-cost ratio, I would calculate that ratio based on the costs that need to be allocated to that class, and we would end up, you and I, in exactly the same point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Clearly I don't understand that as well as I thought I did.


I am going to move to IFRS, something I do understand a little better, I hope.  Notice I am touching wood as I say that.


And we prepared a set of materials to assist with this cross-examination.  I've provided copies to Board Staff.  I don't know whether the panel has got them yet.


MS. SEBALJ:  They are on their way.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is an eight-page package of materials, all of which is from the evidence, except one page, the last page, which I will explain when we get there.


[Mr. Davies passes out the document]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if we could get an exhibit number.


MS. SEBALJ:  It will be KH1.11.


MR. QUESNELLE:  2.11?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, 2.11.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2.1?


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, sorry, 2.1.  Mark your own exhibits, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You got it within three tries.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are teaming up with Mr. Seal to confuse me.


[Laughter]

EXHIBIT NO. KH2.1:  EIGHT-PAGE PACKAGE OF MATERIALS FROM MR. SHEPHERD.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the first page of these materials is your original filing, and this is your original proposal for clearance of 1508 IFRS transition costs; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And of that forecast, at the time that you -- in fact, in December you had 5.4 million of this already audited; right?  They're already audited numbers.


MR. COUILLARD:  What December, Mr. Shepherd?  December '09?


MR. SHEPHERD:  In December you responded to Staff IR No. 84 --


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in which you said 5.4 million of this is already audited, so we know it is --


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- going to be pretty close to being accurate; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if you take a look at that figure, you see that about 2.9 million is from 2008 and 2009, and those are the audited years.  So how was 5.4 million already audited in December?


MR. COUILLARD:  What they considered, I think, was the review that we had from Ernst & Young for the first three months -- or two months of the year.  Like, we have quarterly reviews, because we're a public issuer, so I think that was the essence of the 5.4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the staff response actually says "audited or reviewed by the auditors", so that reviewed by the auditors is quarterly reports.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I get it.


And so at that time then when you filed this information you expected to have another $1.7 million to spend.


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was your forecast.  Okay.


So then if we could go to page 3 of the materials, this is the -- this is what you filed, actually, in January, but then again this week; right?  Which is your revised amount, the actual amount you spent.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I look at this and I see that the difference between this -- it is the same format, except that you have broken out external services into three components?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so for example, if I go to the 2009 historical and I add up the three numbers, I will get 1,358,963, which is the same as you had in the original filing.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now I understand.


So then if I do the same thing for the 2010 actual I will get 1,453,829.  Will you accept that subject to check?


MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you originally forecast 1,910,000.  So it looks like, you know, in the last couple months of the year you -- did you underspend by 450,000?  Is that what happened?  Or did you reallocate something?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it was a forecast.  So there are things that we thought we were going to outsource, and we were able to do it internally, with our internal staff, that were directly allocated to IFRS.  There is a different cost if I go outside versus using a consultant.  We had an internal consultant.


And the main reason for that is the original date of conversion was going to be January 1st, 2011, and there was a lot of work condensed, and so we were bringing a lot more resource from KPMG, our advisors, to support us in that.


And with the extension of one year, then some of the work that originally was going to be done by KPMG is going to be done by our own internal staff.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But then your payroll costs are also down; right?  You had $1.2 million in your original forecast, and your actual was $638,000.  I am not complaining that your costs are down.  Please don't misunderstand me.  It is a habit to get into.  But it is a little confusing that you would, in December, still be telling us that it is $1.2 million, and then the next month say, Oh, no, sorry, it was only 600,000.  What happened?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think it is reallocation of resource, who we thought we were going to use, and it turned out to be lower.  The amount in December, when we said the amount in December was audited, it is really not the December amount at the time.  It would have been based on our second-quarter financials, so it's really back to June.


We wouldn't have -- when we filed our application in August, a lot of the numbers that we call reviewed or audited would have been based on the June review that we had done by Ernst & Young.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand that.


What I am trying to understand is whether any of these changes between the original filing and the updated numbers are because you rethought what qualified and decided, This expense which we had in the forecast really shouldn't qualify for this account.  We're not going to put it in there.


Is there anything of that?


MR. COUILLARD:  What I would say, Mr. Shepherd, is we actually had that discussion every quarter with our audit committee internally of what should qualify.


So we had guidance.  You know, we look at the Board, what the Board provide us as guidance as to what should qualify.


And, I mean, we did challenge ourselves all the time to make sure what we were putting there as costs was actually directly incremental to the IFRS project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there may be -- some of that million-dollar reduction in this recovery amount, it may actually be because you decided that some things were not incremental?


MR. COUILLARD:  I would say -- well, I don't think the thought process was, Oh, look at this expense, this is not incremental.  I think the thought process was, Are we following the guidance?  Those are our guidance, and then make sure that we -- so there is no correction, maybe, if that is your question.  There was no correction in December so an expenditure that was done a year earlier should no longer qualify.  We didn't have to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, wonderful.  You just underspent in the years that were incremental?


MR. COUILLARD:  We reallocated our resource because of a new date.  You could consider that underspending.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Take the credit.


Okay.  So if you take a look at page 4 of our materials, this is an excerpt from your original filing.


This says that -- I think it says that in addition to the -- what is now $6 million that you are asking to recover, in 2011 you have IT and finance costs related to IFRS in the 2011 forecast; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  And when we say IT, it is performed by finance staff.  So if you were looking in the application, the original application, it would all be under finance as far as costs.  It is IT costs because it is technology systems-related or process-related, but it is really included in the finance work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just one second.


I don't think -- maybe I do have this in my material.  Just a second.  Let's see.  No, I don't.


Could you take a look at VECC 37?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this says -- at the bottom of VECC 37, it says:

"Other costs incurred as part of the IFRS compliant work plan that are not included in account 1508 relate to capital expenditures spent on information technology and system and other operating expenses related to payroll costs for employees who are not hired solely for the transition to IFRS."


So is that the IT you are talking about?


MR. COUILLARD:  Some of it, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this is all in finance?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  Well, the IT costs will be -- some of them would have been capital.  There is a small portion in capital, and most of it will be included in the finance costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are all incremental to your normal budget?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your actual cost of this conversion is more than $6 million; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, there is a portion of IT systems that we have capitalized, but it's considering -- like, the main costs is really related to -- it is $6 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So then I would like you to go to page 5 of our materials, which is an excerpt from your response to VECC IR No. 19.  It is Appendix A.


You will see at the bottom, it says, "Finance IFRS A&G costs"; right?  Administrative and general, I assume that is?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says year by year what the total costs were, what went into 1508 and what was left.


And what I get is I get a total of 10.5 million, and this doesn't include 2008.  So it would actually be 11.2 million total; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And now that 11.2 is actually overstated, because this 2.6 and the 4.8 that you see in there in the subtotal, you have actually restated those.  Now they're actually a million dollars lower; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now it would be $10.2 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but what we -- I think what we have to understand, and maybe I can point out, is on the 2011 costs, the 3.1 million is no longer what I would call conversion costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. COUILLARD:  I am not asking for -- as Mr. Aiken pointed out earlier, Are you asking for more conversion costs?  The 3.1 is our ongoing costs of being an IFRS issuer, like -- or adopting IFRS.  There is more ongoing costs.  This is not what I would call a conversion cost.  Like, we're already on -- the plan when we filed the application, so 2011, we would have already been on IFRS.


So the costs of $3.1 million that is there is our ongoing incremental costs of being -- having to do IFRS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's going to be $3.1 million a year?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well based on the settlement, obviously we are not going to be able to spend that much, but right now it is in this ballpark, yes.


There is probably, though, a few -- like, there's -- in that 3.1 million, there is a one-time -- I know the audit fees for the first year, for example, was going to be higher, and there is a significant amount that was allocated to the 3.1.


So can I say that it is going to be 3.1 every year going forward?  No.  It is probably lower than that, but it is significant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so looking at this table, you have -- for example, in 2011, you have "external services - other", which for 2011 is implementation of business process changes and systems.


So you don't have to implement them every year, do you?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  And we're not asking for this $3.1 million, Mr. Shepherd.  Like, we're not asking for clearance of that $3.1 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.  It is still a cost of the conversion, isn't it?


MR. COUILLARD:  Part is conversion.  Part is, like, when you convert, there is always -- there was huge initiatives for us.  There is always bugs or things that are not going to work.  There is significant changes we have to make to our processes, and that $3.1 million would have covered some of those costs, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in fact some of that $3.1 million -- do you know how much of that $3.1 million is part of the conversion and how much is an ongoing cost that you will have every year?


MR. COUILLARD:  If I was to -- I don't have all of the details.  It is -- probably $1 million would be the conversion, and then the rest would be ongoing costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will have -- you will have to spend $300,000 a year every year for your IFRS advisor?


MR. COUILLARD:  But there is a lot of changes that are happening in IFRS.  So it might not be on the same -- on the same, I would say, like, distribution.


But we're looking at probably approximately $2 million incremental in costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are going to have to pay your auditor $400,000 a year more than you paid in the past?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, as I said, those were estimates at the time, Mr. Shepherd.  And in light of the settlement that we have, we're going to have to revalue these numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I thought these were numbers that weren't within your control?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, some of them are.  As far as, like, if we were able -- if we're able now to use some of our internal staff instead of using an external consultant to do that work, it is going to be quite cheaper.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Take a look at page 7 of our materials.  You see page 7 talks about the fact that your external reporting department has led the IFRS project; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said in your evidence -- I didn't include this, but I do have it around somewhere.  You said in your evidence that external reporting, the budget has increased by $3.1 million to reflect the additional costs associated with IFRS; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's for 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  That's the $3.1 million we just talked about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is all in external reporting?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. COUILLARD:  Mainly, sorry, I have to correct.  There might be some other small costs, like in the finance operation side, a couple of consultants that we might have in order to reconcile some of the fixed assets balance, especially at the beginning.  It would be small in comparison to the increase in external reporting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, if you look at the previous page, your controllership group also says, Oh, my goodness we have to do IFRS, too.  So, therefore, we have to have a budget increase also; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, and that is exactly what I said.  It is a $400,000 variance in the -- a $600,000 variance in the controllership department from 2010 to 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So are these the only impacts in the other departments, or are there various small ones throughout the departments?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, there's very small -- there's -- in operations there is significant changes.  We are not seeking for any particular increase on those costs.  We're not seeking for recovery of those costs, because it is difficult to identify them, to track them.  If you look at the operation folks and how they do the work, a lot of their work has to be done around the conversion.  But there is no major other costs somewhere else that we're looking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now, yesterday when you were asked -- when you were talking about the IFRS, you said that for 2011 you were going to absorb the additional costs associated with IFRS.  But you're not actually absorbing them; right?  They're in your budget.


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, they were in the original application, and now based on the settlement we are going to absorb those costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, because you don't have any increase in OM&A?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we haven't distributed those increase, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then let me get to the end point of this.  And this is page 8 of our materials.  And what we did is we looked around and saw what other people said that they were going to spend on this, and because we thought that your total of whatever, $10 million, or whatever it is, 9-, 8-, something like that, many millions of dollars, appeared to be high.


And so we looked at other applications, and these -- we have given you the references here.  This table is simply the ones we found.  There were a number of smaller ones, but we figured it wasn't fair to compare you to ones that had $22,000 in their application.


But what we don't understand is why Hydro Ottawa would spend half a million and Horizon would spend half a million and Waterloo North would spend $700,000, and even Enbridge would spend 3.8 million, and you would be spending 8- or $9 million.  Can you help us with that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I think first I would like to set the record straight.  We are asking for $6 million, and that is the costs we're talking about here, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't know what their costs on the future were, and I think it is unfair to make a comparison between costs that we had put on a 2011 application, for which we actually entered into a settlement yesterday.


So starting with that $6 million, a couple points I would like to bring up.  First of all, I don't know what is included in their costs.  It is very difficult for me to speak for somebody else's costs, and I know we quite often have those arguments in those proceedings.


A couple of points I would like to say is, first of all, we're a public issuer.  The only public issuer in here is Enbridge Gas.  There is a significant difference between the requirement of a public issuer that reports to the OSC versus a smaller utility.


If you just look at our MDMA that we file every quarter, we now, on an average 30-, 35-page MDMA, ten pages of IFRS disclosure, and we're not even on IFRS yet.


So it is significant for us, and there's constant communication with the OSC.  We had a letter about, 'You haven't talked about this.'  We have to answer it.


The second thing is, one of the major reasons for us where the costs were so significant is we -- at the start of our project -- and most of those costs are related to fixed assets.  And we had no fixed-asset ledger that was going to -- that was providing us with the information of the type of assets, the value of the assets, like the net book value that is currently on rate base, and the age of those assets.


When we started this project, we had to basically look at our net book value that is used for rate base and reconstruct an asset, so starting to -- making different components.  We only had 17 categories of assets in the past.


And so we have hired Kinetrics, and they went around, and we moved that categories to 100 of new assets, because IFRS forces us to have all the different components of assets.  In the past under Canadian GAAP we were allowed to use pooling of assets.


I know full -- I know very well, because I have talked to other utilities, that most utilities have those records, of, like, 'This is our asset.  This is the value.'  So they were able to go and figure out, this transformer at the corner of First Street and Second Street is at 1978, and so when you take it out, here is how much book value it is.


So our auditors were forcing us to go back and do all this calculation based on a lot of assumptions, so that under IFRS now, when you take a transformer out of service, you have to take it out of your fixed assets.  In the past those always stayed in assets.


This required, for us, significant effort, not only to figure out what we had, but to also come up with a process in the future that would allow us to track those, because it is one thing to figure out, what's the day-one value of all those assets, and we get this nice report.  We also have to figure out how we're going to be able to maintain that on a going-forward basis.


And I would like to point out, I think one of the keys to the settlement was the fact that we were able to provide some significant relief for ratepayers based on a change in accounting in relation to depreciation.


We could have never done that depreciation study and provide the amount of details that we needed to get the conclusion on all those assets, and this depreciation study reduced rates -- reduced revenue requirement by $33 million for 2011.  That is only for depreciation.  And when you factor the tax impact on that, you are at $48 million.


So we could have not done this without having gone through the incredible exercise to go through all our assets.  And, I mean, we have discussion with a lot of the different larger utilities on, you know, how much work is IFRS, and our auditors have had several discussions with us, and the audit committee challenge us.  Every quarter we had to provide a report to audit committee on the cost.  How much are you spending?  Why is it so expensive?


And the auditors always supported us in that fact, saying, Well, you guys, don't really have the type of records that most other utilities that we're auditing have.  And so you had to build those records.


And I think by building those records we were able to provide -- you know, there is a cost to it, and I agree it is a significant cost, and I don't take the $6 million lightly here, but we were able to provide $48 million worth of revenue requirement reduction in this proceeding.


So I think, if I look at -- and this is on a going-forward basis we're going to have this depreciation that is lower.  So if I look at all the costs and all the governance process we had around how the costs were spent and how the project was managed, I feel those costs were incurred prudently.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how much of this 6 million do you think is the result of lacking this detailed inventory?  Is it half of it?


MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to -- like, I don't want to be held to -- but it is probably half, yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And how did you do your asset condition assessment if you didn't have a detailed inventory of assets?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we had some inventory in some areas.  So the city -- with amalgamation, some utilities had a better set of records than others.  So we went back to some of those records.


What we were really missing is -- so we had poles, for example, and there was no distinction between what is concrete, what is wood, what is aluminum.  And an amount, like, one amount for all of the poles.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How could you run a utility when you didn't know what your assets were?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it doesn't matter from Canadian GAAP perspective.  We knew our assets from an asset perspective, Mr. Shepherd, but what we didn't know is what value to allocate to those assets.


So we knew what was in the field, or all the assets were, but we didn't know what value to allocate to those assets.  So we could run our utility fairly well.  There was no problem running the utility knowing our conditions of our assets and going and maintaining and doing our capital program.


But what we couldn't do is relate those records to the net book value that we have, and IFRS forces us to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why did other utilities have those records and you didn't?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I can't answer why those utilities have those records.  I mean, I know some utilities, because I had the discussion, spent a fair amount of money in the past to put those records together.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And just to clarify, you're saying that decreasing your depreciation -- that is, putting off when the utilities pay you for -- when you recover from ratepayers -- is a benefit to ratepayers?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, can you repeat that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're decreasing your depreciation so the ratepayers -- ratepayers still pay the costs; right?  They just pay them later.


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And pay you your rate of return on it.  That is a benefit to us?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it is a benefit in the short-term, because the rates this year were -- if you look at the rate increase that we're seeking is quite -- significantly lower than it would have been if we had the -- if we didn't have that depreciation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So aside from what you've described, you have -- you've done no benchmarking of your costs to the other utilities.  You don't have any other explanation as to why yours are so much higher than everybody else's, except this lack of previous -- an existing inventory.


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I think there is more than that. I think there is the fact that we are an OSC registrant.  And I know full well that all the smaller utilities that are not OSC registrants have used my MDMA, Hydro One's MDMA, because all our policies had to be published into the public domain, so it was fairly easy -- they didn't have to do the same amount of work for them to develop accounting policies, because those were all out in the public.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.


I would like to now move to the IRM issue.  This is issue number 1.5.  And I just have a few questions in this area.


You were asked yesterday what -- how you understood the issue, I guess.  And what I didn't get is -- and maybe you said it and I just missed it -- is whether there is a specific approval that you are asking this Board Panel to give you.


MR. SARDANA:  It is a good question, Mr. Shepherd.


I think -- the way I think we would like to approach it is it is on the issues list, as you know.  1.5 is an issue.  And, you know, our interpretation of that issue is, no, this is not an appropriate year for Toronto Hydro to go on IRM.  This is not an appropriate rebasing year for us.  That is our answer to the issue.


Now, I think, as Mr. Rodger pointed out, we would like a chance to confer about this, and then perhaps we can elaborate on this answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I am asking something different.


MR. SARDANA:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking something more technical.


I looked in your request for approvals in the application, and I looked for amendments to your requests for approvals.  I don't see you asking for approval to come in next year as cost of service.


So I just want to make sure that I am right that you are not asking the Board to approve a cost-of-service application for 2012.  Is that right?


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Shepherd, I think our view is they don't need to deal with this here, because, as you had mentioned earlier, to do so would be to bind a future Panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  That's fine.


MR. RODGER:  But that's distinct from the legal question which was raised, which we will speak to after this panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking that legal question.  I am trying to avoid it.


Okay.  So then let's go to your first justification for cost of service forever, and that is on page 2 of Exhibit KH1.2.


MR. SARDANA:  We have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your theory is that any capital spending in excess of depreciation is not covered by third generation IRM; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's our interpretation of the incremental capital module.  That ICM, to use the acronym, applies to one-off projects, as I have described them yesterday, and not to blanket capital programs such as the one that we are contemplating.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about the incremental capital module.  I am asking about your statement that the price cap adjustment doesn't allow you sufficient revenue to expend money on capital expenditures in excess of depreciation.  That is your position; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That is our position.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The Board had a consultation on that, right, and concluded that in fact there is some amount already in the price cap adjustment for capital expenditures in excess of depreciation?  Didn't they decide that already?


MR. SARDANA:  I think the Board has taken a very formulaic approach to that.  Depending on how the formula results pan out, there could be some money or there could not be some money.  It could be a negative impact.


MR. McLORG:  But it is clearly not $240 million, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I take your point.  It is true, isn't it, that most LDCs spend more than their depreciation amount on new capital each year?  Isn't that true?


MR. SARDANA:  I can't answer that, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't have those estimates in front of me or those numbers in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you look at what other utilities do?


MR. SARDANA:  Sure, Mr. Shepherd, but not to the level of detail that you are seeking, perhaps.


And, also, I am not going to speak on other utilities' circumstances.  I do know our circumstances, and which is our needs are far in excess of depreciation.  I would imagine that if a utility is in a very stable environment where there is no need for new capital, or there is a lot of development capital being paid for by developers, et cetera, then their depreciation might be at their capital.  I don't know.


MR. McLORG:  In addition, Mr. Shepherd, it is the case that many growing utilities that are serving relatively new areas - and I point, for example, to PowerStream - have capital expenditures that are largely related to customer connection.


They are revenue-producing capital expenditures, whereas most of our capital expenditures are, in fact, directed not to revenue-producing purposes, but, instead, are directed to rejuvenation, so to speak, of the system that is already there.


We are not -- most of the capital expenditures are not directed to adding customers or adding load.  They're there to, in effect, revitalize the system that is already there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, Mr. McLorg, with the publication of the Board's annual year book data, it is possible to compare utilities on this point.


So will you accept, subject to check, that the average capital additions of LDCs to PP&E in 2009 were 123 percent of depreciation?  Would you accept that that is probably about right?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McLORG:  Does the average include THESL?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. McLORG:  Well, I would suggest that if you were to exclude THESL from the calculation of that average, you would probably find that it is lower.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, no, it would be higher.  You were below the average.


MR. McLORG:  I'm sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were below the average.


MR. McLORG:  Could you repeat how the average was calculated and what it is an average of?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Capital additions during the year, during 2009 -- just compare 2008 gross assets to 2009 gross assets.  You get capital additions during the year, net capital additions, and compare that to depreciation for 2009.  It is a very simple calculation.  123 percent is the average across the province.  You are at 121 percent.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, if you take net fixed asset -- less net fixed asset.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not net.  Gross.  I understand.


Would you accept that 41 of your peers actually had more capital additions than you did relative to depreciation in 2009?


MR. McLORG:  I can accept that on the basis that there are lots of growing utilities in the province.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. McLORG:  I am not here to dispute with you calculations that are derived from numbers that are on the public record in the yearbook.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What I am trying to understand, and this is why I am exploring this is - this is why we went to the yearbook in the first place - we are trying to figure out:  Are we being unfair to you?  Is it true that in fact, for example, utilities under IRM spend less than utilities on cost of service?  It turns out it is not true.  It turns out --


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Shepherd --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It turns out PowerStream, sure, they're under cost of service.  They spend 175 percent, but Kingston, not on cost of service - on IRM - spends 174 percent of depreciation.  Why is it that they can do it and you can't?  That is what I am trying to understand.


MR. McLORG:  I think it largely goes to the question of whether or not the capital expenditures in excess of depreciation are directed to a growth in their customer base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Such as Kingston?  You are thinking Kingston is a growth utility?


MR. McLORG:  I can't answer that, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, if I look at our calculation, we spent last year around 225 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  I don't have last year's data.  I only have 2009 data.  When 2010 is published, we will do the same calculation.


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to understand why it is that other utilities can spend more and you can't.


And one reason you have said is growth, but, presumably, if we find some utilities that are not growing utilities and they're also spending a lot more than depreciation under IRM, somehow they're managing it.


MR. McLORG:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, let's look at the consequences of their doing that.


If they are spending under an IRM interim period - that is, the period after rebasing - an amount significantly in excess of depreciation, that must mean that their rate base or their net fixed assets is growing - are growing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. McLORG:  And as a result of that, and the fact that they are on, say, a three-year IRM period, it becomes the case that between rebasings their rate base increases significantly.  That is not under Board review.


The next thing that happens is that those utilities come in in the subsequent rebasing year.  They've got a dramatic increase in capital.  That capital hasn't been reviewed by the Board, and the Board is then looking at having either to admit that the rate base has grown and approve the prudence of those expenditures, which entails a massive rate increase and a terrible shock for customers, or they have the choice to disallow those expenditures.


MS. HARE:  Mr. McLorg, you are speculating.  This really isn't evidence, is it?


MR. McLORG:  Well, Ms. Hare, I am operating from the basis that -- on the basis of pure reason, with the defined parameters of IRM.  I am just inferring the consequences of Mr. Shepherd's question, which is that if they are able to spend and somehow finance expenditures significantly in excess of the resources that are provided by revenue requirement, there must be some consequences to that.


And I think it stands fairly much as a logical consequence of IRM as it is currently constructed.


It is not based on actual observation of other utilities.  I certainly would admit that.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are expecting to have to spend more than -- significantly more than depreciation, maybe two or three times inflation each year for a few years; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  On a quick calculation our numbers -- I think Mr. Couillard has just spoken to 2010, where we spent about 225 percent of depreciation.  And a quick arithmetic of our 2011 shows that we are going to spend about 275 percent in excess of depreciation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, now, so that -- your thesis appears to be that the approvals of your high capital budgets and the agreements with intervenors the last two times on your high capital budgets are a justification, are legitimization of your high levels of capital spending; right?  Other people have said, yes, you have to spend money on capital; right?


MR. SARDANA:  No, Mr. Shepherd.  I wouldn't agree with that.  I think the last two settlements that we've been able to achieve with the intervenor group and that have been approved by the Board are really, I think, and I believe, an understanding by all parties that, yes, this capital is needed.


And in fact -- and I think it was your words -- well, I can't speak to what we said during the settlement, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, you can't.


[Laughter]


MR. SARDANA:  -- there was an agreement that this capital is needed.  I think that was the sentiment, the general sentiment, expressed by us, and we think bought into by all parties.  And that really is the basis for our capital budgets that we have had approved in the last two rate cases.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Previously.  Right.  You had a -- in the previous rate case you also had a higher capital budget.


MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.  And I think what we believe is that we are setting the basis for the plan that we have going forward.  And I might add, we filed our capital plan in 2007.  We have updated extensively in the last filing.


The details are there.  It shows the system is in need.  It shows this capital is urgently needed.  And if we don't spend it on capital, we are going to leave a system that is in very dire straits.  I mean, we are seeing outages on our system, on our primary feeders, that are horrible for customers.  We've got to fix this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The increased budget over the last five or six years, including 2011, it could equally be true that that extra budget means that you've already been given lots of catch-up and it is time to stop, isn't it?  Could equally be true?


MR. SARDANA:  No, because I think what we're showing and what we have tried to speak to in these past two rate filings is, this probably isn't enough.  Yes, we've settled.  It allows us to maintain the system.  It allows us to just keep up.


And, you know, we've used the analogy of the snow-plough effect and -- where all we're doing is pushing -- we are creating a bigger and bigger backlog of capital work, because that capital work -- those problems aren't going away.  They're going to come back.  And we will need more next year.  Or at least, we will be asking for more next year, and then we're aware of the rate impact on customers, and we will deal with it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recall the EB-2005-0421 -- sorry, Mr. Seal.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recall that?


MR. SARDANA:  I don't, no, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is your 2006 rate case.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, I do remember parts of it, sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You recall that at that time the statement was made by Toronto Hydro that you were going to have to spend an extra billion dollars to catch up on capital renewal?  Do you remember -- it shocked everybody.  A billion dollars.


MR. SARDANA:  Subject to check, sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the reason I ask that is because since -- prior to 2006 you were spending less than $100 million a year on capital; right?


MR. McLORG:  Under a rate freeze.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but for many years prior to that you weren't under a rate freeze.  It was still under a $100 million a year; right?


MR. McLORG:  We were under an IRM -- the first-generation PBR, and that effectively was tantamount to a rate freeze for utilities.  They had minor increases in revenue requirement, but nothing on the order that would support significant capital expenditures exceeding depreciation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here's why I ask the question, because from 2006 to 2010 your actuals, plus the budget you've been given for this year already in the settlement, by my calculation totals $1.6 billion.  And your previous spending would have been under $600 million.


So my question is, haven't you already got your billion dollars?  Why do you need more?  You asked for a billion.  You got it.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. McLORG:  We don't have the 0421 record before us, Mr. Shepherd.  But it seems to us that the billion dollars that was referred to was specifically money that was envisioned for sustaining capital; that is, the rejuvenation of our system.  That is not the total capital that we spend.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will put the quote in argument.


Okay.  My last area on this is -- I am going to use the half-year rule as an example, but I think it applies to a number of these things.


You have said in your letter that the half-year rule means that in the year after rebasing, and your first IRM year, you don't get to recover the rest of the depreciation and capital -- cost of capital on that spending; is that right?


MR. McLORG:  The CEEDs, which is the acronym that we have used in this letter, capital expenditures exceeding depreciation, would have applied to them, the half-year rule.


If, as is noted in the letter at page 2, our CEEDs for 2011 are some $240 million, the operation of the half-year rule means that rate base is set accounting only for 120 million of those dollars.


At year end, the actual rate base for 2011 will be, in our estimation or by way of our forecast, will reflect the full capital expenditures that we budget under the settlement for 2011.


So there is a gap of unfunded capital expenditures in the amount of approximately $120 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that --


MR. McLORG:  That has a significant revenue requirement attached to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've called that unjustified and punitive in your letter.  I take it that that applies to everybody who rebases and then goes on IRM; right?


MR. McLORG:  And the question is one of materiality. If a utility is in a relatively stable configuration and its assets are in mid-life and don't require a lot of reinvestment, then it is possible that they can approximately balance depreciation, which funds their capital expenditures in part with their actual capital expenditures.


And the operation of the half-year rule would still be to the detriment of the utility, but in terms of materiality, if there are no significant CEEDs, then the -- you know, one half of zero is still zero.  It doesn't matter to them.


But when CEEDs are significant, then the operation of that half-year rule and the effective disallowance of that rate base, well, it increases strictly in proportion to the level of CEEDs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is simply a flaw in the third-generation IRM regime.


MR. McLORG:  I wouldn't characterize it as that.  I think that third-generation IRM is a reasonable regulatory approach for utilities in circumstances where it is applicable.


Our basic thesis is that the cost drivers included in third-generation IRM expressly don't account for factors other than inflation, the productivity factor, and the stretch factor.


So if a utility is in circumstances where it has significant cost pressures arising from capital reinvestment and, for our purposes as well, workforce renewal, then you can't be expected to do what it is not designed to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't everybody have the workforce renewal problem?  Don't all LDCs have it?  Certainly I will tell you every application the Board has seen in the last two years, the utilities said they had that problem.  Isn't that true?


MR. McLORG:  I don't dispute that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have no further questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Board Staff?


Why don't we take the break now, if that is fine with you, Ms. Sebalj.  We will come back at, say, 20 after 11:00.


Mr. Rodger, just a reminder, the Board recognizes that you will be seeking some direction from your client on the matters that we discussed earlier, and so the Board allows that -- the communication, if you need to, with this panel, but for that purpose.  I am not sure, when you say your "client", whether you are making phone calls or not, but if you do need to speak to this panel for direction on that, the Board recognizes that.


MR. RODGER:  And if it would assist the Board, if I could perhaps just respond to Mr. Warren's submission on this issue of -- around 1.5.  If it -- and I take his point on the nuances of how this could be framed.


And I just offer the following as a suggestion for the Board to perhaps clarify the record, if this is the specific, crisp issue you want addressed, which I have described as follows, that we would address in-chief, and the issue is described as, does this Board have the jurisdiction in determining THESL's 2011 rate application, to require that THESL file under IRM for any future rate application to be filed in connection with THESL's 2012 rates?  If that is helpful, we could address that in-chief.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We will consider that.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:32 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


MS. TAYLOR:  I was going to say somebody loves me.  I will share with Ken.


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Before we go any further, I think we had the discussion, Mr. Rodger, that you had posed the question before, and you have had an opportunity to get direction from your client, perhaps.  Is there anything that has changed since the question that you put before us before?


I would like you to read that again.  The Panel has deliberated and we would like to get some guidance on that, but I will let you speak first as to whether or not you received direction that altered that from your client.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  First, I will read the question again.  It is:  Does this Board have the jurisdiction, in determining THESL's 2011 rate application, to require that THESL file under IRM for any future rate application to be filed in connection with THESL's 2012 rates?


I have got instructions from my client and our position is, no, the Board does not have jurisdiction to direct in this way, and if the Board pleases, we're happy to provide submissions in support of our position in our argument-in-chief, and, if not, then that would end the matter, in our view.


But I would just reiterate again that this question, as I framed it, it certainly is of a very different nature and scope than how issue 1.5 was framed and the rationale behind the issue pursuant to Procedural Order No. 2.  I hope that is helpful.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, it is.  I will bring this back to what started this, and it was whether or not the Board was going to compel an answer to a question that Mr. Warren posed yesterday.


So perhaps, first of all, I think the Panel would like to comment on the direction you received and the question you are posing.


In the context of this application and the purpose that we had the issues on the list - and that was an approved list - we wanted the discussion.  We're having a discussion, and I think that the -- it has been illustrative of what the issues are and how they might shape up.


This Panel does not see a need for furthering that into the legal question as to whether or not this Panel has the jurisdiction.  The Panel did not approve the issue for the issues list for that purpose.  We need not go any further than we have as far as the arguments on that point.  We are satisfied that we need not be informed by people's views on that to exercise the authority that we feel we need to have or exercise in this application.


So having said that, we are not seeking argument on that.  We are not seeking views of the parties on that particular issue.


We inserted ourselves in this yesterday at the request of Mr. Warren, who was seeking us to compel an answer to a question.  That question still remains on the record.  And the position that was taken, that you expressed, Mr. Rodger, we were seeking whether or not that was truly the position of the applicant.  You have stated a position.


And I think, Mr. Warren, if you accept that position as the answer, the question asked, question answered is where we see that, if you accept that it does that.  And I will ask you for a submission on that now.


MR. WARREN:  I will take the fatalistic position of all counsel in these matters.  As I asked the question, I got the question they gave me and I can't go any further than that, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  This Panel is satisfied that we need not go any further on these matters than what has been discussed, and the discussion has been a good one.  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  May I be excused now?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Thanks for making the effort to be here this morning.


I believe if there is nothing else, Mr. Rodger, Ms. Sebalj is up with cross of this panel.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning, panel.  I have just a few follow-up questions to the questions Mr. Shepherd was asking you with respect to IRM.


I believe he left off with a question with respect to workforce renewal, and the panel had indicated -- I can't remember who it was, but I think, Mr. McLorg, you had indicated or you accepted Mr. Shepherd's premise that workforce renewal is an issue for most utilities, or something along those lines.


MR. McLORG:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  And my question goes more to the fact that workforce renewal is not a new issue for Toronto Hydro.  Is it?


MR. McLORG:  No, it's not.


MS. SEBALJ:  And to that end, Toronto Hydro has incorporated or has already capitalized a number of expenditures with respect to -- or to address workforce renewal; is that not correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the company has incurred some expenditures, but there is no capital expenditures in nature, in regards to those costs.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I'm only taking from your letter.  You talk about -- this is KH1.2, which is your letter of March 25th, which addressed the IRM issue.


On page 3, you indicate:

"THESL has documented the need for workforce renewal as a result of cresting retirements within its labour force, and new accounting rules reduce the proportion of total project expenditures that can be capitalized."


So I assume that you were capitalizing expenditures.  You go on to say:

"As a result, THESL's operating expenditures are driven significantly by factors other than inflation and this real growth cannot be fully offset or accommodated through productivity growth."


So I just took the term from your letter.  My point only is that -- or, sorry, not my point, but my question is whether there are significant incremental amounts that need to be spent over and above the sort of basic spending that's already been made with respect to training and workforce renewal?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  I mean, every year, if you look at our retirement especially on the line trades, when people are retiring -- we run a trade school.  It takes five years to train an apprentice to be able to put them in the field and be a full, what we call, line person.


So when we bring people in, because it takes five years, you can't have a line person retiring after, like, X number of years' service and replace a person right away with somebody coming off the street, so there has to be an overlap.  When we bring somebody in, most of the work that is done by the line person is capitalized, because a lot of it is related to renewal of the plant, but when somebody comes in, all of the training cost is not capitalized.


So as they move along the program, in the first years there is very little capital.  As they move in the program, then they start going in the field and they participate in our capital program.


So in year five, they are probably 75, 80 percent capitalizable, where in year one it almost zero.  So there is an incremental cost because of the overlapping.


We hire approximately one to two schools per year, and a school is about 20 apprentices, so it is somewhere around the 30 to 35 people per year that we bring in.


MS. SEBALJ:  Your specific concern with respect to IRM in this context is?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the specific concerns is, as the costs are increasing and as more people are retiring, IRM does not allow us to actually increment our admin -- our opening expenditures to pay for those people.


MS. SEBALJ:  So I am just going to move on to another area, and I only have a few brief questions.


This has to do with Board Staff IR No. 9, which is Exhibit R1, tab 1, schedule 9.  There were -- this is the Board Staff -- or your answer to Board Staff's interrogatory with respect to IRM.


And in that, among other things, THESL has talked about the concept of devising an IRM that comprises cost drivers beyond simply inflation and productivity.  And you go on to talk about, conceptually, a modification, if you will, to third generation IRM that would be customized to Toronto Hydro's needs or better address Toronto Hydro's needs.  Is that correct?


MR. McLORG:  That's correct, although I think our response indicated that we don't believe that we are alone in facing these cost pressures.


So we are not asking the Board to tailor its regulatory approach to Toronto only, but, rather, just to generalize the IRM approach that it is presently taking to account for real cost pressures, cost pressures in addition to inflation less productivity, that could be documented by a given utility by means of evidence brought in an application. 


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, a couple of questions following out of that.  When you say "by means of evidence brought in an application", you mean an individual utility application?


MR. McLORG:  Yes.  Any individual utility that was facing those kind of real cost pressures and could prepare evidence to document them and so on would be able to bring to the Board, in effect, an augmented application, which would provide the evidentiary foundation for the approval or consideration of those expenditures, and that evidentiary basis could be used by the Board to grant a revenue requirement reflecting those real costs that would be incremental to or, in plain language, larger than the revenue requirement that would result from the application of what I could call bare-bones or basic IRM.


MS. SEBALJ:  Does Toronto see anything precluding THESL from bringing such an application?


MR. McLORG:  No.  Mr. Sardana has said yesterday that we are anxious to work with the Board and Board Staff in an appropriate forum, which may in fact be the renewed regulatory framework for electricity, to develop alternatives to IRM that would conceptually, in our hopes, combine the best features of IRM as it currently exists with the solidity of evidence, so to speak, in a cost-of-service framework.


So you would be attempting to synthesize those two approaches into a kind of a hybrid approach, which would seek to extract the best elements out of both.


MS. SEBALJ:  I guess I'm a tiny bit confused, because in your previous answer I thought you were talking about an individual application, and now I think you are talking about a generic process.  So is there...


MR. McLORG:  Well, let me try to clarify in this way.  It is, of course, up to each utility to bring its own application, and we think that it will be most helpful for the Board and the industry if it were able to, through consultation with utilities and so on, develop a regulatory approach, as I say, this kind of hybrid approach, that would be applicable more generally than just to THESL.


It would be applicable to THESL, in our hopes, but we do see that there are other utilities in the province, particularly those utilities with a vintage of plant that is similar to THESL's circumstances generally, that are similar to THESL's, to which this newly developed regulatory framework could apply.


MS. SEBALJ:  And so do I take from that answer that -- and from your letter, which -- and you can correct me if I am characterizing this improperly, but I took from your letter that you were backtracking a tiny bit from your answer to Board Staff IR No. 9, in that the letter says we're filing cost of service for 2012 for one year, whereas the Board Staff IR looked like you were laying out a number of different options, including a potential three-year cost of service.


MR. McLORG:  In our letter, Ms. Sebalj, we explain that we believe -- we now believe -- and I will give you the reference in a moment.  It is on page 6 of 6 in our letter.  And that letter, just for the record, was KH1.2.  The second paragraph down from the top of that states that:

"THESL, having given further consideration to these questions in the interim, is now of the view that a well-defined alternative -- that is, to cost of service and to IRM -- may emerge in time to be applied to 2013 rates and revenue requirement, and as a result THESL does not at this stage wish to commit to the three-year cost-of-service framework that was mentioned in the interrogatory response noted above."


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  And that's exactly what I am referring to, and my question was going to be whether I took from your answer that Toronto Hydro is in a wait-and-see pattern, essentially.  It's going to continue to file cost of service until the Board —— I was going to say initiates; it has already been initiated, but the Board finalizes a new fourth-generation IRM.


MR. McLORG:  Well, I would not like to characterize it as being a wait-and-see posture.  We are quite anxious to be as helpful as we can to the Board.  And certainly the development of a new approach would relieve many of the pressures that THESL bears in bringing a cost-of-service application to the Board each year.


As you all know, that is certainly not a trivial or a light undertaking for THESL to undertake, and we would be very anxious, from the point of view of overall regulatory efficiency, to work actively —— and I could say proactively, with the Board, Board Staff, and other stakeholders to develop an alternative that could be implemented reasonably as soon as possible.


We don't see that being available for 2012.  And as you've heard us state, we have experienced no change in our underlying circumstances, as they would pertain to 2012.


So we feel compelled, in the interim, before an alternative can be developed, to file again a cost-of-service for 2012.  But it is our hope, sincerely, that an alternative that is fair to all parties can be developed and applied not only to THESL but, more generally, to other utilities in similar circumstances.


MS. SEBALJ:  And are you aware specifically of other utilities in similar circumstances?  Without naming names, obviously, just -- because it seemed to me from previous discussions that you were not specifically aware of utilities with the same issues as Toronto Hydro.


MR. McLORG:  Well, I think it is fair to say, Ms. Sebalj, you know -- I deal quite regularly with my colleagues in CLD on the regulatory file, and I know from that interaction that several of those utilities -- and I would suggest that there may be others as well who are in similar circumstances.


You asked me not to name names, and so I won't, but --


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh.


MR. McLORG:  -- I would -- I could generally characterize it as I think I began to by saying that utilities with a vintage of plant that is at the stage of needing significant investment to refurbish could include many of the long-established cities in Ontario.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.



MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks, Ms. Sebalj.


The Panel has a few here.

Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I still don't understand why 2011 can't be the base year.  You are coming forward with a cost-of-service application, and every other utility uses a cost-of-service application as the base year.  You talk about pressures for cost increases.


You haven't talked about efficiencies, which is a concern, because every other utility looks at cost pressures and looks at ways to reduce costs in other ways.


So why can't this be a base year?  For whatever IRM you come forward with.


MR. McLORG:  Well, Ms. Hare, let me respond basically in two ways to that question.  The first is that it is our belief that the cost-of-service framework itself, including the settlement process, acts very strongly as a form of discipline on THESL with respect to its spending proposals and so on.


And we think that the evidence that's brought in a cost-of-service hearing itself directly establishes the cost efficiencies that utilities have been able to implement relative to their historical cost levels.


And in addition to that, of course, there is the matter of settlement, where, as it was -- as you have seen in our case, there was a significant reduction in the proposed revenue requirement resulting from that.


That in itself, as was mentioned by Mr. Couillard this morning, will cause us to go back and squeeze as much as we can out of costs that we will be incurring in 2011 and attempt to sharpen our pencil, if you would forgive that cliché, to the maximum degree that we can.


But to the other question, if you don't mind me continuing for a moment, the essential problem for us, with respect to treating 2011 as a base year from which an IRM plan would then proceed, is the fact that we observed, for example, in 2011 that the price cap adjustment that is -- that would be available to THESL and is generally available to other utilities, without regard specifically to their capital renewal needs, was on the order of 0.2 percent in 2011.  That is quoted in our letter, and that is a result of applying the median stretch factor.


So in our view, that is essentially a rate freeze.  You know, an increase of less than 1 percent is essentially a rate freeze.  And the underlying driver - certainly one of the main ones, anyway - of the increase in our revenue requirement is the fact that as long as capital expenditures exceed depreciation - and, in our case, they exceed them very substantially - that necessarily increases rate base for the subsequent year.


And when rate base increases in that manner as a result of capital expenditures exceeding depreciation, the capitalization-related costs that are attracted by that increased rate base must themselves increase.  And that factor isn't separately taken into account in existing IRM.


It is true, of course, that there is a marginal increase in revenue requirement that can support some additional capital expenditure, but, in relative terms, that marginal increase is so small compared to what we feel we need and what we feel that we have documented, in terms of capital expenditures exceeding depreciation, that it is, in our view, inadequate to produce the revenue requirement that the underlying conditions require.


MS. HARE:  So I really view this as two separate issues, and I will give you and Mr. Sardana, Mr. Couillard, one last chance to explain to me why I don't say this properly.


One is what the IRM formula is, which I understand your position that it needs to be different than third generation IRM.  That's fine.


My question was:  Why isn't 2011 a good base?  Your answer was, basically, because you settled.  Well, that is no different than every other utility in the province that either comes forward to a rate case and gets a decision, or settles.


So your revenue requirement was reviewed.  You settled on it.  Why isn't that a good base, is my question?


MR. McLORG:  Well, I think this is a good base with respect to the 2011 revenue requirement.


I would, of course, note that THESL did not file the current application as a rebasing application.  It is not that we dispute the appropriateness of the --


MS. HARE:  What's the difference?  If it is rebasing, then you jack it up?  Like, what's the difference?  You filed your costs and your revenues, what you need to operate, what your revenues are.  What's the difference if it is a rebasing year or just a one-year?


MR. McLORG:  Well, the difference is that the consequence of it being considered a rebasing application, to be followed in subsequent years by the application of the price cap adjustment, is that in the following years the revenue requirement couldn't grow in the way that we feel we have documented with our long-term capital plan and our explanation of the need to spend in excess of depreciation in capital expenditures.


So our concern doesn't revolve around this year.  Our concern revolves around what would happen next year and in subsequent years.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thanks.  I have a few questions relating to the IRM model itself and how you have interpreted that it applies.  So I don't know who wants to answer these questions.  Perhaps you will all three take a kick at it.


Would you agree that your current rates fully reflect your previously authorized total capital expenditures?


MR. McLORG:  They do so, in part, because we have come to the Board under a cost-of-service framework.


But we do agree --


MS. TAYLOR:  Do you acknowledge that your rates currently reflect your total capital spend, as previously approved by the Board, directly through cost of service or settlement?


MR. McLORG:  Yes, we do.


MS. TAYLOR:  So do you also agree, then, that when we look at the half-year rule, the half-year rule applies to the difference between the applied-for capital expenditures that may or may not be approved, and the previously-approved capital expenditures?


MR. McLORG:  The half-year rule directly applies to the revenue requirement that is attracted by the change in rate base.


MS. TAYLOR:  Which is directly related to?


MR. McLORG:  Capital expenditures less depreciation.


MS. TAYLOR:  All else being equal; is that correct?


MR. McLORG:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  So then if you have said previously that the half-year rule creates a deficiency with respect to the capital expenditures in excess of depreciation of some $240 million, give or take, can you recalculate the revenue requirement, so-called, deficiency that results from the application of the half-year rule relating to the change in year-over-year capital expenditures?  And you can do it 2012 to 2011, or 2011 settled versus 2010 settled, and tell me what that difference would be, please.


MR. McLORG:  Well, Ms. Taylor, we did include that calculation in our letter.  And just to hopefully clarify the record, we are stating there, at page 3 of 6 in the middle paragraph, that our -- for 2011, our total CEEDs --


MS. TAYLOR:  Not CEEDs, though.  That is capital expenditures in excess of depreciation.


MR. McLORG:  That's correct.


MS. TAYLOR:  I'm asking you -- rates reflect the previous year's capital.  So the settlement this year is for capital of 375 million, last year's capital budget that was approved by settlement - and I don't have the number handy - I believe was something in the order of $275 to 3 -


MR. SARDANA:  350.


MS. TAYLOR:  350.  So, theoretically, based on those numbers, the half-year rule applies to $25 million in capital, and the revenue requirement deficiency that is not otherwise reflected in rates would be 25 million.  Do you agree or disagree with that?


MR. McLORG:  No, I disagree with that, and I will attempt to explain why.


The critical distinction that we need to make is that the growth in rate base is a direct result of the excess of capital expenditures in a given year over depreciation.


Now, in our letter, we have it documented at page 3 that, for 2011, our capital expenditures exceeding depreciation would be $240 million.


MS. TAYLOR:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. McLORG:  The operation of the half-year rule -- in other words, the application of the half-year rule to those CEEDs, so to speak, would produce an amount of $120 million of capital expenditures exceeding depreciation that are not recognized in the current year revenue requirement.


They will exist -- that level of rate base will exist by year end in 2011, and we don't quibble with the application of the half-year rule to 2011 expenditures, because not all of those expenditures are made at the beginning of the year.  They take place across the year.  The half-year rule is an approximation of the average capital.


But the year-end capital will be reflective of our total capex in 2011.  Hence, when we start in 2012 the operation of the half-year rule, in an IRM environment where there is no adjustment to rate base, it would effectively deny recovery to THESL of $120 million worth of CEEDs.


So the comparison is not between year-over-year levels of capex, per se.  The comparison should be made between year-over-year levels of CEEDs.


MS. TAYLOR:  So I understand what you have just explained as it relates to rate base.


MR. McLORG:  Yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  But rates, the cash coming in, fully reflect the previous year's capital expenditures, and you have previously agreed with that.


So I think we have answered the question.  Thank you.


MR. McLORG:  Well, may I just add that, if I may -- and I hope it is not too much of a technicality, but rates, and revenue requirement, from which they spring, is in fact not a function directly of capital expenditures.  Revenue requirement is a function, in large part, of rate base.  Rate base is the quantity that attracts the capitalization-related costs, not directly the capex.


So you could think of capex -- or, sorry, of rate base as being a reservoir of investment in the business.  Capex is the main inflow to that reservoir.  Depreciation is the main outflow from that reservoir.


The revenue requirement is driven by the level that exists in a given year in that reservoir.  And the -- of course, capex and depreciation jointly determine how that level in the reservoir changes.


MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Anything else?


That is all I have at this time.  I don't think the Panel has any more, other than -- and we haven't had any discussion on the effective date, and I didn't know if anyone -- if we wanted to speak to that or...

Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  There was a request that the current rates be declared interim, and the Board has provided that.  But that was also -- in the same request, connected to that, in conjunction with that request, was the mechanics as to how we would get to an August 1st date.


The Board has not opined on that, and we would leave that to argument as to make that submission on it as to why that is required, restate that.  We accept the letter is here.  But we would like to see some argument on that, as to why the August 1st date is required.  If that could be addressed in-chief, that might be the easiest way to deal with that, and the Board --


MR. McLORG:  Mr. Quesnelle, if it is convenient -- I don't mean at all to preclude any comment in argument or in reply, but I am able to follow up on a question that you posed yesterday concerning the practicality of implementing rates at any date after May 1st.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. McLORG:  And I did specifically check on that point with my colleagues back at work.  And the situation, in a nutshell, is that we cannot, because of the phasing out of our existing billing system, attempt to implement rates in June.  The existing billing system is basically at the edge of the cliff.  It is just about to be phased out.


The implementation of our new billing system is scheduled to occur on July 1st, and the people in charge of that, the customer care and the IT people, are extremely loath to attempt to implement a rate change at the time of conversion, because, as is, you know, generally, I think, recognized, that kind of major IT conversion is a very significant challenge in itself, and they would do anything, really, to avoid a rate change on July 1st, because they have significant concerns that we would be at risk of customer-billing disruption and so on if we try to take on anything more than the conversion July 1st.


So the first available date for us will be August 1st, and that's the direct answer that I received in response to your question yesterday.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. McLorg.  I appreciate that.  Thank you.


Ms. Sebalj?


MS. SEBALJ:  I just wanted to mention something that hasn't come up, I don't think, in any of the discussions, and I don't know that it needs to.  But no mention was made, I don't think, of the request relating to the late-payment penalty.


I am assuming that the Panel is happy to deal with that.  I don't even know if there is argument on it, but to my mind there was the issue of the fact that the late-payment penalty decision is a decision independent of this Panel, but that this Panel is seized of the implementation of that decision, if you will.


So I don't think that there is an issue there, but I didn't know if anyone wanted to address it, Toronto Hydro in particular.


MR. SEAL:  If -- sorry, if it's at all helpful to the Panel, we have reflected the results of that decision and filed evidence on the rates, the rate rider to fall out of that in this particular filing, and it is filed at Exhibit J1, tab 2, schedule 9.


So that schedule shows the calculation of the rate riders associated with the late-payment penalty decision and reflects what the decision asked us to do.  So that piece is in evidence, just in case people weren't aware.


MS. SEBALJ:  And that is helpful.  I was simply referring to the fact that there is essentially a variance from the previous Panel's decision, which was that it be recovered over 24 months, and this letter is requesting that it be recovered over 21 months.  And I just wanted to make sure that if anything needs to be said about that, that it should be said now or in argument.


MR. McLORG:  Well, Ms. Sebalj, that is indeed our most current request of the Board, and that is the relief that we're seeking with respect to that issue.


Because of all the considerations that apply to implementing rates generally, and August 1st being the first available date practically and with regard to customer-billing security, we would -- we do ask that the Board grant our request to collect the LPP rate-rider revenue over a period of 21 months instead of 24 months, which we consider will have a minimal, if any, adverse impact on customers.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to give the opinion of this Panel, the Panel accepts that it has the authority to make this, what we see as somewhat of an administrative arrangement, and not as -- it doesn't meet the threshold of having to go to a vary order on the original decision.  I think that was done as a -- 24-month was administratively seen to be -- the fact that it also pointed to the cost-of-service applications that were underway for implementation will expand our implementation role of that order to also adjust the period of time, and that would be collected in conjunction with the effective date of the rates.  We will consider that part and parcel of that consideration.


Okay?  All right.  With that said, thank you very much --


MR. RODGER:  I just have a couple of matters in redirect.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry.  I apologize.  We went off on to all our administrative details.


MR. RODGER:  Not at all.  I will be quick.

Re-Examination by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Sardana, just to turn to you, I want to take you to a question and answer, question of Mr. Warren, and your response.  And for the record, it is page 185 of yesterday's transcript, line 14.  And I will just read it.  It is brief.  Mr. Warren asked:

"All right.  Now, as I understand it - and my notes aren't particularly accurate on this - you have outlined a number of reasons why it is that you don't feel the IRM model should apply to Toronto Hydro.  Can you and I agree, Mr. Sardana, that assessing whether or not those reasons are viable should be done on the basis of the facts before the Board in an application?  Is that not fair?

"Mr. Sardana:  I think that would be fair, yes."


Now, in terms of the facts before the Board, you have filed the letter on this question.  That is Exhibit KH1.2.  Is that right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.


MR. RODGER:  And you provided your testimony to this Panel; is that right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I suppose that someone could have asked you, with respect to issue 1.5, why Toronto Hydro didn't simply file kind of the key components of your 2012 cost-of-service application at this time.


MR. SARDANA:  I suppose they could have asked that.  I mean, I think the short answer, Mr. Rodger, is that that application is still in the works, but the -- what's clear to us and has been clear to us for the last two or three years or longer is that the underlying themes remain the same.  The need for capital continues to be dire.  The workforce renewal program continues to require attraction of talent, et cetera.


MR. RODGER:  Now, you had an exchange with the Panel about capital.  Even as an order of magnitude, could you give the Board some sense of what kind of increase you think you might be looking for in capex in 2012, versus the settled-on amount in this proceeding?


MR. SARDANA:  Well, I think as I mentioned even earlier today, the backlog continues to grow.  So we settled at, you know, on a, what we call a modified GAAP of 400 million, which is, under the revised GAAP, around 378 million.


But our early model runs -- and I stress early, because we -- there is an iterative process with our capital folks -- the first model run that I have seen back from them show a capital budget of 628 million.


We know that is not acceptable.  We just, you know, we're saying, no, this is -- you've got to go back and redo this.  But that just gives you an idea of the scope and the projects that are coming across our desk.  Not just for one year, but we see this need out to the future.


MR. RODGER:  And Mr. McLorg, you had an exchange with Ms. Hare where you described this feature of IRM where you have a rebasing in year 1, maybe not a year -- maybe not another rebasing for a few years hence, forward, and in the between time there could be significant capital spending.


And I don't want you to speculate about other utilities, but would you have a concern that the kind of rate shock that you described could apply in Toronto Hydro's case, under those circumstances?


MR. McLORG:  Well, yes, I do, Mr. Rodger.


And I have to just explain that, as stated in our letter, Toronto Hydro's ultimate and only resource that it can draw on for the funds necessary to do its programs is, in fact, revenue requirement.


And it is not at all clear that we could, without revenue requirement, sustain for any period of time capital expenditures in excess of depreciation, which would themselves increase our rate base and our revenue requirement, because to do that would severely injure our financial ratios.


It would, in fact, in all likelihood, lead to an off-ramp type of application from Toronto Hydro, because we would have met the threshold, even under an IRM framework, of an ROE that was significantly less than the allowed amount.


So, in summary, what I'm saying is it is not at all clear that we could finance those expenditures.  Were, however, those finance -- those expenditures able to be financed, then what would happen is that the net fixed assets that Toronto Hydro would have on its books would continue to increase relative to the rebasing year, and, in our submission, very substantially, supposing that we could finance them somehow, and that, itself, would create a very large difference between the rebasing rate base, the driver of revenue requirement, and the subsequent rate base that would be apparent in a future rebasing application.


So there would be a very large difference between those two levels of rate base.  And, as I indicated earlier, the Board would then be faced with a very stark choice, which would essentially be either to disallow that difference in rate base, which we think would be punitive and kind of a matter of expropriation, or to grant those expenditures and, therefore, a very significantly increased revenue requirement, which customers would then have to fund in rates in a very abrupt way.


So the accumulation of unfunded rate base leads to a condition where, on the subsequent rebasing, there's a stair-step increase in rates.  And Toronto Hydro's view is that that is not conducive to a kind of a rate-smoothing framework for utilities in our circumstances, and that, instead, it would lead to very significant and abrupt rate shocks at the subsequent rebasing.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, sir.

Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Sebalj, has there been any discussion about the schedule for...


MS. SEBALJ:  I was actually just going to mention that before we went off the record.


There haven't been any discussions between Board Staff and the parties.  We are happy to do that, but we do require direction with respect to oral versus written.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I will ask for the applicant to -- your preference.  We don't have a -- well, I will leave it to you.


MR. RODGER:  I think we would prefer written, and I am not sure of the order, whether Board Staff wants to go first, but we would certainly be prepared to file our argument-in-chief on Monday if that serves -- pleases the Board.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It does, yes.  And I think written would be acceptable, yes.


So if that is Monday, Ms. Sebalj, recommendations for subsequent schedule or if we have any of the intervenors -- Mr. Shepherd, do you have --


MS. SEBALJ:  A week.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, typically we need two weeks, particularly given the Horizon hearing is during that period.  A week would be tough.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think two weeks is something that the Board can live with, and then reply after that, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps two weeks after that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, that is acceptable to the Panel.  The actual dates, if we have a calendar handy, if we can do this on the record right now, it will just save us the administrative detail of getting a procedural order out.


MS. SEBALJ:  So Monday is April 4th, so that would be the date for chief; Monday, April 18th for intervenor and Board Staff; and Monday, May 2nd -- is anyone checking my work?  Monday, May 2nd for reply.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, can I assume that we will have the undertaking responses at the same time as the argument-in-chief?


MR. SARDANA:  Sir, we will certainly strive to do that.  In fact, we will do that for you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay, if there is nothing else, thank you very much.  We are adjourned.  


Thank you, panel.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:19 p.m.
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